## RECEIVED MAY 0 5 1998 Gold Commissioner's Office VANCOUVER, P.C. CUSAC Gold Mines Ltd.

# **Table Mountain Gold Property**

## **Diamond Drilling Report**

Sun Claim-Bear Vein-1997 Field Season

Prepared For : Cusac Gold Mines Ltd. 908-700 West Pender Street, Vancouver, BC, Canada, V6C 1G8 Phone : (604) 682-2421 Fax : (604) 682-7576 GEOLOGICAL SURVEY BRANCH ASSESSMENT REPORT Email : cusac@uniserve.com

Prepared By : Michael J. Glover, B.Sc., April 1998



## **Table of Contents**

Introduction	2
General Property Information	2
Property Location and Access	2
Property Topography and Vegetation	2
Figure 1 : Property Location Map	3
Figure 2 : The Property	4
Figure 3 : Claim Map	5
Property History	6
Property Geology1	1
Figure 4 : Generalized Geological Map 1	2
The Current Work	5
The Sun Claim	5
Summary of Work	5
Results of work	5
Table 1 : Diamond Drill Hole Collar Summary 10	6
Figure 5 : Bear vein Location	7
Table 2 : Summary of Significant Intersections 18	8
Conclusions and Recommendations	9
Appendices	0
Appendix A : Writer's Certificate	1
Appendix B : Cost Statement	2
Appendix C : References	3
Appendix D : Diamond Drill Hole Logs : Separate Volume	

.....

### Introduction

This report documents diamond drilling conducted in 1997 by Cusac Gold Mines Ltd. on the Table Mountain Gold Property. The objectives of this work, carried out east of the Main Mine area on the Sun claim, were;

- to explore extensions of the Bear vein exposed in the Main Mine area,
- follow up previous isolated vein intersections in this area and,
- test the ground east of the Main Mine for further additional vein structures.

### **General Property Information**

#### **Property Location and Access**

The Table Mountain Gold Property is located in northern British Columbia, 115 kilometers south of Watson Lake, YT (See Figure 1). Highway 37 transects the property and provides all-weather access to Watson Lake to the north and Dease Lake to the south. Both towns are serviced by regularly scheduled commercial flights.

At present, the property consists of a generally contiguous block of 207 full and fractional mineral claims and Crown Grants totaling 1,017 units. These claims cover an area of approximately 250 square kilometers (See Figure 2). The claims all lie within the Liard Mining Division. This figure highlights the area of work covered in this report, the Sun claim.

#### **Property Topography and Vegetation**

The claims forming the Table Mountain Gold Property cover the broad McDame Creek Valley and the Table Mountain to the south. The terrain is typical of northern British Columbia. Although the area is mountainous with relief exceeding 1000m, the local terrain is generally moderate. Overburden varies from thin till on the steeper slopes to deeper deposits in the McDame Creek Valley. Shallow lakes, swampy areas, and mixed poplar/spruce growths cover the valley floors. Pine forests cover the slopes, gradually thinning at higher elevations into alpine meadows.

#### Figure 1 : Property Location Map

The red highlighted square indicates the property location and approximates the area illustrated in Figure 2.



#### **Figure 2 : The Property**

The boundaries of the claims forming the Table Mountain Gold Property are illustrated below. The Sun claim is indicated by the red shaded polygon.



#### Figure 3 : Claim Map

The north west corner of 104P 4/E at 1:50,000 highlighting the Sun Claim



5

### **Property History**

Placer gold was first discovered in the McDame area in 1874. The town of Centerville was established during the ensuing rush, and a reported 65,000 ounces of gold were produced over the next twenty years from placer workings on McDame, Snow, Troutline, and Quartzrock Creeks. In 1877, a nugget weighing over 40 ounces was found. Limited production continues on a sporadic basis even to the present time. The total placer gold production from the area to date has been estimated at 108,000 ounces.

The first mineral claims were staked in 1934. A small exploration rush developed over the next few years as most of the near-surface, gold-bearing veins were discovered.

The Vollaug vein was discovered in 1935 by John Vollaug and his partner Hans Ericksen. Vollaug and Ericksen also staked the Agnes and Jennie claims covering the original exposure of the Jennie vein in what is now known as the Main Mine area. Cominco completed a prospecting, trenching, and drilling program on the Vollaug vein structure in 1937.

Around this time, an unknown group brought a small mill to the Jennie vein location and drove a short crosscut to the vein. No significant values were encountered and work terminated. These early workers stopped only a few rounds short of a high-grade shoot on the Jennie vein.

Between 1942 and 1946, a prospector named Pete Hamlin exposed auriferous quartz veins in trenches on what is now the Pete claim. Pete Hamlin introduced the Brett brothers to the Table Mountain and Pooley Pass areas in the late 50s. The Bretts staked several claim blocks in the area during this period.

In the early 1950s, Silver Standard Mines Limited explored the Vollaug vein.

In 1973, Table Mountain Mines drove a decline and an adit on an ore shoot on the west end of the Vollaug vein based on results from the 1937 Cominco drilling and the Silver Standard work from the 1950s. They eventually followed up this work in 1977 with an adit extension and two raises which proved up an encouraging ore shoot within the Vollaug structure. They did not mine this ore shoot.

In 1974, David and Kristian Ross of the Agnes and Jennie Mining Company Limited, trenched and sampled the original highgrade outcrop of the Jennie vein exposed on Erickson Creek. Subsequent drilling during 1975-76 defined a high-grade ore shoot within the structure. On January 1, 1977, the Rosses collared a portal at the 1350 meter elevation (35 level) to test the vein by drifting along strike. By March 1978, Nu-Energy Development Corp. had become a 50% partner in the project. Underground development had defined a high-grade ore shoot with a reserve of 8800 tons grading 1.55 oz/T Au. The Jennie vein eventually produced more than 62,000 oz Au from 113,000 tons of ore.

As noted, Cusac's interests in the area originated with the prospecting efforts of brothers Guilford and Fred Brett in the mid 1950s. These and other efforts, initially seasonal, eventually became full-time with the formation of Glen Copper Mines Ltd. in 1965. Glen Copper evolved, through Cusac Industries, to become Cusac Gold Mines Ltd. in 1995. Cusac's key claims in the area were staked by Guilford Brett in 1977.

In 1979, Cusac Industries Ltd. conducted a program of mapping, geochemistry, geophysics, and drilling on the Pete claim. A road was built into the area and three holes were drilled in 1980 with no significant intersections.

In 1980, Plaza Mining Corporation acquired the claims along the strike extension of the Vollaug vein to the east of the Table Mountain Mine property. They erected a 150 ton per day mill and commenced production from two small open pits.

Esso, through a 5 year option agreement, explored portions of the area in the early 1980s.

Exploratory work in the Main Mine area during 1981-82 defined a second significant goldbearing structure, the Maura vein. Both the Jennie and Maura veins were developed down dip by a second adit at the 1280 meter elevation (the 28 level). A third adit was driven at an elevation of 1210 meters (the 21 level) to develop the Maura structure at greater depth. The Devine, Bear, Goldie, and Dease veins were discovered during this development. In 1982, surface drilling resulted in the discovery of a third significant gold-bearing structure, the Alison vein, located in the footwall of the Maura and Jennie zones.

In December of 1982, the Agnes and Jennie Mining Co. and Nu-Energy were amalgamated to form the Erickson Creek Gold Mining Co. (Erickson).

In 1982, Cusac Industries discovered the high-grade Dino vein and explored the Hot vein. Development of a crosscut, 300 feet of drift on the Hot vein and a raise to surface were completed. Low grades discouraged further work.

In September 1983, Plaza Mining Corporation went into receivership. Erickson acquired the Plaza assets which included the mineral rights to the remaining known strike length along the Vollaug vein.

In late 1983, Erickson started a new adit at the 1420 meter elevation, approximately 3 km east of the Main Mine workings to develop some of the reserves on the Vollaug structure. Known as the Troutline, this adit had reached the vein by year end. In 1983, Erickson also initiated work on a new adit below the Main Mine workings known as the 14 level.

In 1984, the original mill capacity was expanded to 300 tons per day. This mill was subsequently destroyed in a fire in January 1986. A new mill was built and the mine was brought back into production in October 1986.

In 1984, Cusac optioned its claims to Erickson. Over the years, further mineral rights were obtained on adjacent ground by staking, purchase, and under option agreements.

In 1985, Erickson discovered the Eileen vein, just south of the Dino vein, on the Cordoba claim. Drilling resulted in the definition of an economic ore body which was developed via the Cusac Decline.

In 1985, Total Compagnie Francaise des Petroles, a French government-affiliated energy company, acquired operating control of Erickson Gold.

Ore production from the Eileen commenced during the summer of 1986. Underground

mapping and drilling resulted in the discovery of the Michelle vein.

Prospecting conducted in 1987 uncovered the Katherine vein on the NuTara claim. The Katherine vein was the target of a subsequent percussion and diamond drilling program.

In late 1987, an underground diamond drill program, testing east of the Eileen workings, discovered the vein system known as the Michelle High Grade zone (MHG). Attempts to further define the MHG from surface were ineffective. Definition drilling from underground was limited to available drill station locations as further development was halted by heavy water flows. A preliminary estimate of the potential of this zone indicated 24,337 tons at a grade of 1.019 oz/T Au. These results encouraged Total Energold to embark on an ambitious exploration and development program. A 2.5 km adit (the 10 Level) was collared in the fall of 1988 to investigate the MHG. At this point, reserves were depleted and production from the Cusac Portal and the Main Mine had ceased. Some production continued from the Vollaug through the end of the year. In late 1989, after completing 1.7 km of the 10 Level adit, work was terminated due to unexpectedly high costs and heavy ground water flows.

In 1989, Erickson conducted an integrated program of trenching, mapping, geophysics, and diamond drilling in the Cusac area. The Bain vein was discovered and a small mineral inventory was defined via further trenching and drilling.

Surface exploration in 1990 resulted in discovery of the Christine vein and a mineralized zone on the Theresa vein in the Hunter area.

Additional geophysics, geochemistry and diamond drilling conducted in 1990 and 1991 resulted in the definition of two significant reserve blocks on the Bain vein. The West Bain contained drill-indicated probable reserves of 34,741 tons at 0.687 oz/T Au. The East Bain contained drill-indicated probable reserves of 22,120 tons at 0.565 oz/T Au.

In April 1991, Total Energold elected to divest themselves of their North American mineral assets to focus on their oil and gas interests. All of the assets pertaining to the Erickson Gold operation near Cassiar were assigned to Energold Minerals Inc. and were subsequently purchased outright by Cusac Industries Ltd., free and clear of any royalties to Energold.

In 1993 Cusac reopened the mine and 300 ton per day milling operation at Table Mountain with the main production target being the West Bain structure. Definition drilling conducted on the West Bain zone confirmed reserve estimates.

A limited surface exploration program in 1993 resulted in the discovery of the Bonanza zone west of the West Bain.

In the fall of 1993, Cusac initiated development of the West Bain zone. During this period the old Cusac Portal workings were reopened and examined. Remarkably, no water was encountered in the workings. The development of the 10 level had lowered the water table and drained the water that had prevented the former owners from developing the MHG.

Milling of ore from the West Bain commenced in April of 1994. Underground mining was completed in July, and crown pillar extraction, in August, of 1995.

In January of 1995, Cusac entered into a joint venture agreement with Cyprus Canada Inc.

(Cyprus), known as the Taurus Project. This project, involving a 40 square km group of claims in the northern portion of the property, regarded a mineralised zone straddling the boundaries of claims held by International Taurus Resources Inc.(Taurus) and Cusac.

In August of 1996, after spending approximately \$3 million, Cyprus elected to withdraw from the Taurus project. Subsequent to Cyprus' withdrawal, Cusac entered into an option agreement with Taurus regarding the same group of claims.

As a result of exploration completed by Cyprus and Taurus on the Taurus/Cusac project, Taurus geologists have estimated drill-indicated and geologically drill-inferred resources of approximately 1 million ounces of gold. The bulk of mineralization on Cusac's portion of the project is in the geologically drill inferred category. This low-grade, near surface, potentially bulk mineable resource, is associated with shear zones and disseminated sulphide mineralization.

During the development of the Cusac decline to the MHG, the Big vein was defined and mined. Definition drilling of the MHG commenced in May 1995.

Mining of the MHG commenced in June 1995 from the top of, what proved to be, a complex faulted series of high grade ore blocks. Sporadic production from this zone continued through 1997.

1995 surface diamond drilling of the Katherine vein to the west of the Bain, resulted in the definition of a small open-pit amenable reserve. This block was mined. The Bain Gap, between the East and West Bain blocks, was tested with inconclusive results.

In the summer of 1995, I.P. surveying, designed to test for zones similar to that being investigated at Taurus was undertaken. Follow up drilling to this I.P. work did not yield any significant disseminated mineralization. The final hole on the Van claim, 95VAN-5, designed to test coincident weak geochem and interpreted fault structures, intersected a quartz stringer yielding 1.679 oz/T Au over 0.2m.

Underground drilling at Cusac discovered the Lily vein, the eastern extension of the MHG.

In early 1996, the 10 level development, dormant since late 1989, was extended by 250m.

Mining of the Lily from the 1160 commenced in March 1996. The Lily was eventually mined between the 1130 and 1170 levels over a strike length of 150m.

Underground drill testing of the ground north of the Lily resulted in the discovery of the Melissa structure. Access was driven but fault disruption of the structure rendered the vein sub-economic.

A compilation of Vollaug data undertaken in the summer of 1996 led to the re-evaluation of existing reserves and drilling of selected targets. Rehabilitation of the 57 level portal and decline was undertaken and mining began in October of 1996. Mining from the 57 was completed in February of 1997 and work commenced on rehabilitation of the 49 level drift. Production from the 49 began in April. Dilution, due to poor hanging wall conditions, and erratic grade distribution combined to result in lower than anticipated recovered grades. Lowered grade and low gold prices combined to make the zone sub-economic. The mining

#### was stopped in July of 1997.

The Cusac decline was extended east in May-July of 1997 to permit drill testing of the Lily further to the east. No significant results were yielded by this drilling.

During the same period, an exploration drill program was undertaken to test the area east of the Erickson Creek Fault Zone (ECFZ) near the Main Mine. Initial attempts to follow up isolated intersections from previous drilling met with mixed results. Drilling the Bear vein extension, east of the Main Mine, resulted in the partial definition of a near surface ore shoot.

Open-pit mining of an ore panel on the Vollaug in the Table Mountain Mine area, initially discovered by Cominco in 1937, and subsequently upgraded by drilling in 1996, was completed between July and September of 1997. Portions of the Melissa and narrow vein sections of the Lily on the 1600 level were mined during September through November 1997.

### **Property Geology**

Figure 4 illustrates the general geology of the central portion of the property.

The property is underlain by rocks of the Sylvester Allochthon. Thrust faults divide the allochthon into three major sub-horizontal lithotectonic sheets. The Basal Sylvester Thrust forms the contact between the lowermost thrust sheet of the allochthon and the underlying autochthonous sediments of the Cassiar Platform terrane. The Table Mountain Thrust marks the top of the lowermost thrust sheet. The Huntergroup Thrust marks the top of the middle thrust sheet. The allochthon was emplaced sometime between the Late Triassic and Mid-Cretaceous (Gordey).

The lowermost thrust sheet is composed predominantly of sub-greenschist facies metaandesites, cherts and cherty volcanics. Discontinuous tectonic slivers of listwanite, generally interpreted to be metasomatized serpentinites, occupy the Table Mountain Thrust. The middle thrust sheet, less than 500 meters thick, is composed of graphitic argillite with minor interbedded siltstones and sandstones. The uppermost thrust sheet consists of pyroxene porphyritic meta-volcanic rocks with minor intercalated metasediments. These rocks range in age from Late Devonian to Late Triassic (Gordey). Cretaceous and Tertiary lamprophyre and diabase dikes intrude locally (Boronowski).

Gold mineralization occurs in quartz vein systems within the lowermost thrust sheet proximal to the Table Mountain thrust.

Dating of sericite, associated with auriferous quartz veining, indicates an Early Cretaceous age. This postdates emplacement of the Sylvester Allochthon and pre-dates the Middle to Late Cretaceous emplacement of the Cassiar Batholith. This fact and the absence of exposures of contemporaneous intrusives have lead Ball, a former property geologist, to suggest that the property "could be situated over hidden intrusives localized by early transcurrent faults and associated transtensional zones".

Auriferous polyphase quartz veining is spatially and genetically related to the Table Mountain Thrust. The thrust formed an impermeable structural discontinuity localizing hydrothermal fluid flow. Boronowski has suggested that the listwanites occupying the thrust signify "proximity to a deep crustal break, a possible source of gold, and an environment where acidic gold-bearing hydrothermal solutions would be neutralized and enhance precipitation of gold."

Gold mineralization, within quartz veins, is concentrated at or immediately below the thrust.

Productive veining is concentrated along a north-south trending zone of faulting known as the Erickson Creek Fault Zone (ECFZ). Clusters of alteration zones, veins, and faults, that occur intermittently along the ECFZ are interpreted to represent separate hydrothermal centers. Mineralized veins and alteration zones also occur distal to the ECFZ, however, none of these structures have yielded economic mineralization to date.



Figure 4 : Generalized Geological Map

-Ken Two distinct geometries of auriferous veining are recognized (Panteleyev & Diakow);

Type 1 veins (e.g., The Jennie and Eileen), are moderate to steeply dipping and occupy shear structures in the lower thrust sheet immediately below the thrust and generally terminate against the thrust. Generally striking 060-080 and dipping north, segments of these veins, typically 1m to 6m thick, average 200m in length. Vein systems can reach 1.8 km. Ore shoots generally occur within the top 30m of the vein. Gold grades, generally higher and more consistent in the upper portions, decrease and become more erratically distributed down dip.

Type 2 veins (e.g., The Vollaug), are relatively shallow dipping veins that occur within the thrust plane. These veins are have a characteristic ribboned appearance due to the presence of graphitic stylolites. The Vollaug, striking east-west, has a known length of 2.7 km. Thicknesses reach up to 4m but are generally less than 2m. Shallowly plunging elongate ore shoots are localized by flexures in the thrust plane.

The steeply dipping Type 1 veins are more abundant, contain higher grade gold mineralization, and are easier to mine than the Type 2 veins.

Mineralized veins are polyphase and commonly tectonically banded. Fine-grained mineralized quartz frequently cuts pre-existing early barren, coarse-grained, quartz veining. Gold occurs freely or is found intimately associated with clots of medium-grained euhedral pyrite. Increased sulphide concentrations generally indicate higher gold grade however some of the more spectacular free gold specimens from the property contain minimal sulphides. The common sulphide assemblage is pyrite, tetrahedrite, and sphalerite. Chalcopyrite and galena are less common. Arsenopyrite is rare.

Vein structures are offset by cross-faulting and dikes frequently cut through the ore bodies. Late stage alteration, commonly clay, associated with these cross faults and dikes, and variations in mineral assemblages within veining on either side of a fault, indicate that these structures were present during the final stages of hydrothermal activity.

Multiple distinctive overlapping alteration haloes occur within the volcanics adjacent to auriferous quartz veins. The most extensive is a widespread propylitic halo defined by veinlet stockworks of calcite, chlorite, and quartz with accessory pyrite and chalcopyrite. A carbonate alteration envelope, generally extending less than 15m from veining, increases in intensity towards the vein. This alteration is characterized by bleaching. An iron enrichment halo within the more intensely carbonate altered volcanics is evidenced by the presence of up to 10% coarse euhedral pyrite. Crackle brecciation, a distinctive fine multi-phase brittle breccia with a silica/carbon fracture filling accompanies the higher degrees of carbonate alteration.

With the exception of areas where the erosional surface is below the Table Mountain Thrust, (e.g., Katherine), listwanites are spatially associated with, but not restricted to, every known economic auriferous quartz vein system on the property. Three mineral assemblages characterize progressively increasing degrees of metasomatism within the Listwanites; Serpentine-Carbonate, Talc-Carbonate, and Quartz-Mariposite-Carbonate.

Ore has been produced from four vein systems on the property. Offset segments of a single structure have frequently been individually named. In the Main Mine area, the Jennie, Maura

and Alison veins represent a single fault disrupted structure. Similarly, at Cusac, the Eileen, Big, MHG, and Lily may be interpreted to be the same vein. This is also the case for the Katherine-Bonanza-Bain System. The various mine openings on the Vollaug are all working the same vein.

pr -

**b.** 

.

.

.

### The Current Work

#### The Sun Claim

The Sun claim, located on the north slopes of Table Mountain east of the Main Mine workings, covers an area of 200 HA. Record details are tabulated below.

Claim Name	Expiration Date	Record #	Old #	Units	Area
Sun	July 11, 2001	221632	13	8	200

#### **Summary of Work**

In the period June 20<sup>th</sup> to October 29<sup>th</sup> of 1997, 3867.7m of BQ diamond drilling was completed in 29 surface holes. The initial seven holes of this program were designed to follow up on previous, isolated, intersections east of the ECFZ, believed to represent a new vein structure. Two subsequent, relatively long, "flat" holes were drilled to test the ground below the Table Mountain Thrust Plane for new structures. A further 20 holes tested the immediate eastern extension of the Bear vein, initially discovered and exploited from the 21 Level. Diamond drill hole collar details are summarized in Table 1. Core logging was done by geologists L. Hunt, N. Reid, M. Phillips, G. Wesa, G. Addie. Fire assays were done inhouse employing standard procedures.

#### **Results of work**

Figure 5 illustrates the area of current work. The initial, easternmost, series of 7 holes were designed to follow up on an isolated 2.315 oz/T Au over 0.6m intersection, yielded by Type 1 quartz veining in hole 88-722. The first hole of the series, 97MX-01 intersected a polyphase quartz vein yielding 0.367 oz/T Au over 1.2m core. Subsequent holes intersected weakly mineralized sections of the structure or overshot the structure. Current interpretation suggests that this structure is a weakly mineralized eastern extension of the Bear vein. It has been named the Bear East.

Hole 97MX-08, designed to explore for possible extensions of past producing structures in the Main Mine area, yielded a 5.674 oz/T Au over 0.6m intersection on the Bear vein. No other significant structures were encountered. Hole 97MX-09, drilled below and sub-parallel to -08 yielded a weak Bear vein intersection. A major chert unit was intersected in this hole. Cherts prohibit continuous vein development in this environment. No further significant structures were encountered.

Holes 97MX-10 through -29 were designed to test the immediate eastern extension of the Bear vein, initially discovered and exploited from the 21 Level. Table 2 summarizes all significant intersections yielded by the current drilling. Typically, vein intersections proximal to the Listwanite yielded the highest and most continuous grade. In this instance the listwanite/vein contact is near surface making the structure amenable to further investigation by trenching.

ŀ		Colla	r Coordinates			
Hole-ID	Easting	Northing	Elevation	Azimuth	Dip	Length m
97MX-01	62235.52	64651.95	1330.07	150.00	-45.0	72.2
97MX-02	62235.52	64651.95	1330.07	150.00	-54.0	101.8
97MX-03	62235.52	64651.95	1330.07	135.00	-45.0	86.8
97MX-04	62235.52	64651.95	1330.07	212.00	-45.0	69.2
97MX-05	62229.80	64573.99	1376.87	9.70	-53.3	114.3
97MX-06	62229.88	64574.02	1376.80	16.10	-51.6	111.0
97MX-07	62228.58	64573.53	1376.71	34.00	-45.2	123.5
97MX-08	62009.22	64700.17	1255.23	122.70	0.7	761.4
97MX-09	62009.05	64699.63	1254.15	128.60	-14.5	553.4
97MX-10	62009.14	64699.30	1254.80	138.00	1.4	98.5
97MX-11	62009.51	64700.21	1255.09	115.60	1.4	121.3
97MX-12	62008.08	64700.93	1253.40	122.00	-26.0	137.8
97MX-13	62008.59	64700.85	1253.34	140.40	-28.0	113.4
97MX-14	62009.55	64699.64	1254.95	152.50	-2.2	110.1
97MX-15	62008.90	64700.85	1253.50	150.10	-26.6	104.3
97MX-16	61943.84	64661.63	1257.78	150.60	3.7	128.7
97MX-17	61943.70	64662.15	1256.65	156.60	-27.0	94.2
97MX-18	61943.27	64662.96	1256.33	150.60	-66.0	88.1
97MX-19	61944.94	64663.70	1256.53	129.80	-23.8	83.2
97MX-20	61976.81	64625.08	1276.05	360.00	-90.0	117.7
97MX-21	61977.23	64625.91	1276.11	25.80	-60.0	56.7
97MX-22	61977.00	64626.00	1276.00	350.00	-49.0	41.2
97MX-23	61977.00	64626.00	1276.00	322.00	-79.0	74.9
97MX-24	61977.00	64626.00	1276.00	322.00	-85.5	93.3
97MX-25	61977.00	64626.00	1276.00	302.00	-61.0	62.8
97MX-26	61977.00	64626.00	1276.00	25.00	-48.0	41.2
97MX-27	61931.00	64606.00	1277.00	350.00	-66.0	105.5
97MX-28	61931.00	64606.00	1277.00	350.00	-77.0	126.5
97MX-29	61931.00	64606.00	1277.00	350.00	-52.0	74.7

#### Table 1 : Diamond Drill Hole Collar Summary

•

.

**P** ~

.

-

•

•

.

- -

•

.

۲

•

.

.

•

.

.

•

۰.

• •

e -

•

1

e -

.

Total Drilling (m)

3867.7

Figure 5 : Bear vein Location



Figure 5 : Bear Vein Location

This plan illustrates the spatial relationship of the Bear vein to the Main Mine Workings

|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|

Table 2 :	Summary	of Significant	Intersections
-----------	---------	----------------	---------------

Hole-ID	Target	Notes	From m	lom	OZ/T AU	ength m	Eact	Morth		
					OLT FIG	Lengurm	Easi	NOTUT	Elev	Structure
97MX-01	Bear East	Follow up on 2.315/0.6m in 88-722	56.90	58.10	0.367	1.20	60050	24047	1000	
97MX-02	Bear East	Follow up on 2.315/0 6m in 88-722	81.20	81.40	0.000	1.20	62256	64617	1290	Bear East
97MX-03	Bear East	Follow up on 2.315/0.6m in 88-722	72.40	73.30	0.029	0.20	62260	64610	1265	Bear East
97MX-04	Bear East	Follow up on 2.315/0.6m in 88-722	59.80	60.20	0.004	0.90	62272	64616	1279	Bear East
97MX-05	Bear East	Overshot Structure Above TM Thrust	00.00	00.20	0.002	0.40	62213	64616	1287	Bear East
97MX-06	Bear East	Overshot Structure Above TM Thrust								
97MX-07	Bear East	Overshot Structure Above TM Thrust								
97MX-08	Bear + Expl'n	Bear and Bear Fast	88.30	88.00	5 674	0.60	00004	24050	1050	
		No other significant structures	233.30	234 10	0.102	0.00	62084	64652	1256	Bear
97MX-09	Bear + Expl'n	Penetrated major chert horizon	66.00	66 70	0.103	0.80	62206	64574	1259	Bear East
97MX-10	Bear		28.40	29.00	0.033	0.70	62059	64660	1238	Bear
			29.80	30.00	0.260	0.00	62028	64678	1256	Bear FW
			52.00	53.00	0.200	0.20	62029	64677	1256	Bear FW
97MX-11	Bear	Eault at target	52.80	00.20	0.776	0.30	62045	64660	1256	Bear
97MX-12	Bear	No structure								
97MX-13	Bear	No structure								
97MX-14	Bear		52 30	52.00	0.202	0.00		210-2		
97MX-15	Bear	No structure	02.00	02.90	0.393	0.60	62034	64653	1254	Bear
97MX-16	Bear		26.10	26.60	0.150	0.50	24057			
97MX-17	Bear		30.40	20.00	0.159	0.50	61957	64639	1259	Bear
97MX-18	Bear		23.00	24.10	0.079	1.50	61954	64637	1243	Bear
		ŀ	24.70	24.10	0.121	1.10	61948	64655	1235	Bear FW
97MX-19	Bear		35 10	20.30	0.1/1	3.60	61948	64654	1234	Bear FW
97MX-20	Bear		108.60	110 10	0.110	1.80	61970	64644	1242	Bear
			112.60	112.60	0.119	1.50	61977	64625	1167	Bear
97MX-21	Bear		46.40	47.00	0.404	1.00	61977	64625	1163	Bear
97MX-22	Bear		30.60	47.00	0.007	0.60	61987	64647	1236	Bear
97MX-23	Bear		55.80	56.50	0.403	1.60	619/4	64646	1253	Bear
97MX-24	Bear		73.00	74.30	1.025	0.70	61960	64648	1242	Bear
97MX-25	Bear		18.10	14.30	0.019	0.40	61975	64629	1202	Bear
97MX-26	Bear		30.20	40.00	0.018	0.80	61957	64638	1234	Bear
		ŀ	30.60	32.00	0.101	0.30	61986	64645	1254	Bear
97MX-27	Bear		53.20	55.30	0.335	1.40	61986	64645	1254	Bear
		-	01.50	01.90	0.006	2.10	61927	64628	1229	Bear
97MX-28	Bear		70.40	91.00	0.149	0.30	61924	64644	1194	Bear FW
97MX-29	Bear		33 10	34 90	0.006	1.80	61928	64624	1200	Bear
			00.10	54.50	0.011	1.901	619271	646261	12511	Bear

#### **Conclusions and Recommendations**

Current work has begun to define a significant vein structure, the Bear vein, that may, with further work, yield economic reserves. The location of the structure is such that the vein is amenable to further definition by surface trenching. A program of systematic sampling will aid in definition of the structure and definition of grade distribution within the structure.

Respectfully submitted,

Kolm.

Michael J. Glover, B.Sc.

- **\*** \*
- •
- .
- .
- •
- .
- · ·
- •
- .
- .
- ·
- .
- .
- ·
- .
- .
- 、
- .
- .
- .
- .
- .
- **.** .
- .
- •

## Appendices

#### **Appendix A : Writer's Certificate**

I, Michael J. Glover, B.Sc., of 130 Melvin Cr., Bowser, BC,

do hereby certify that:

I am a geology graduate of Lakehead University, Thunder Bay, Ontario, 1986.

I have practiced as a geologist, with minor interruptions, since 1984 for various companies in Canada and overseas.

This report is based on knowledge gained during the periods June 1995-June 1997 and Oct 1997 to present, while I was employed as a mine geologist at the Table Mountain Property by Cusac Gold Mines Ltd., and on my recent review and compilation of geological data at the Table Mountain Gold Mine.

I may, at any given time, hold an option to acquire securities in Cusac Gold Mines Ltd.

Bowser, BC, April 24, 1998.

Nohm

M. Glover, B.Sc.

## Appendix B : Cost Statement

Direct Diamond Drilling Cost	\$276,452.00	Per Invoices
Geological supervision	\$53,625.00	(130 Days @ 1.5 Men/Day @ \$275/Day)
Room and board	\$35,750.00	(130 Days @ 5.5 Men/Day @ \$50/Day)
Analyses	\$8,200.00	(328 Fire Assays @ \$25)
Report Writing	\$1,500.00	(5 Days @ \$300/Day)
Sundry Office Costs	\$200.00	
Total	\$375,727.00	

#### **Appendix C : References**

Bain, J., Yip, G., Ball, M., (1991) : Bain Vein Ore Reserve Calculation - Quadrilateral Method. Unpublished company report prepared for Total Energoid Corporation.

Ball, M., (1985) : Structural Geology Associated with Gold-Bearing Quartz Veins in the McDame Gold Mining Camp.

Ball, M., (1989) : Erickson Gold : Geology and Model of Ore Formation, Unpublished company report prepared for Total Energoid Corporation.

Ball, M., (1994) :1994 Exploration Plan for the Table Mountain Gold Property. Unpublished company report prepared for Cusac Industries Ltd.

Downie, Iain, (1997) : A Review of the Table Mountain Gold Property and Recommendations for Exploration on Behalf of Cusac Gold Mines Ltd., Unpublished independent report prepared for Cusac Gold Mines Ltd.

Glover, M.J., (1998) : Table Mountain Gold Property : 1998 Project Review and Exploration Proposal. Unpublished in-house report prepared for Cusac Gold Mines Ltd., April 1998.

Gordey, S. P., Gabrielse, H., Orchard, M.J., (1982) Stratigraphy and Structure of Sylvester Allochthon, Southwest McDame Map Area, Northern British Columbia: in Current Research, Part B, Geological Survey of Canada, Paper 82-1B, p101-106.

Panteleyev, A. and Diakow, L.J., (1982) : Cassiar gold deposits, McDame Map-Area 104P/4,5. British Columbia MEMPR Paper-1981-1 p. 55-62.

Westervelt, R. D., (1988) : A summary Report on the Proven - Probable Reserves at the Erickson Creek Gold Mine Property as of January 31, 1988, Unpublished company report prepared for Total Erickson Resources Ltd.

Westervelt, R. D.,(1994) : A Summary Review Report on the Table Mountain Gold Property, Cassiar, British Columbia. Unpublished company report.

## Appendix D : Diamond Drill Hole Logs

Separate Volume

**.** -

\* • ·

•

.

ь

.